RECEIVED
SEP 12 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DILLON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Richard L. Hinson, Special Referee

Case No. 2016-000246

Thomas J. Grossetti, Jr., Respondent,

v.

Nicolette S. Blue, Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

McANGUS GOUDELICK & COURIE, L.L.C.
Brett H. Bayne, Bar No.: 100018
~~Post Office Box 12519, Capitol Station~~
Meridian, 1320 Main Street, 10th Floor (29201)
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-2519
(803) 779-2300

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES RAISED BY APPELLANT

- Ia. The failure of Respondent's counsel to notify Omni of the filed lawsuit of damages hearing constituted surprise, excusable neglect, mistake or inadvertence.
- Ib. Appellant presented a meritorious defense to the trial court.
- Ic. Appellant has satisfied the four factors that courts examine when determining whether to set aside default judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 4, 2015, Respondent Thomas J. Grossetti, Jr. ("Respondent") filed a Complaint against Appellant Nicolette S. Blue ("Appellant") seeking to recover damages arising out of an automobile accident in Dillon County, South Carolina on May 17, 2013. (Summons and Complaint filed June 4, 2015) ("Complaint"). A Proof of Service was filed on June 18, 2015, indicating that service had been executed on Appellant. (Aff. Of Service, filed June 18, 2015). No Answer was filed. Thereafter, Respondent filed an Affidavit of Default and a Motion for Entry of Default on August 31, 2015. (Aff of Default and Motion for Entry of Default, filed August 31, 2015). Respondent moved for default pursuant to Rule 55, SCRCP, on the grounds that Appellant had been served and that no answer or responsive pleading had been filed. An Order for Entry of Default was signed on August 27, 2015 and filed with the Clerk of Court on August 31, 2015. (Order for Entry of Default, filed August 31, 2015). The Order for Entry of Default vested jurisdiction of this matter with the Special Referee. The Order provides that any appeal from the Order of the Special Referee "shall be directed to the South Carolina Court of Appeals." (Order for Entry of Default, filed August 31, 2015.)

The damages hearing in this matter was conducted by the Special Referee on September 22, 2015 in Florence, South Carolina. (Order and Judgment, signed September 23, 2015). Only Respondent, who testified, his mother, and his attorney were present at the hearing. Id. The Special Referee awarded a total of \$75,088.84 in damages: \$65,088.84 in actual damages and \$10,000.00 in punitive damages. Id. A copy of the Order and Judgment was provided to Appellant's insurance company on or around October 5, 2015.

On October 8, 2015, Appellant filed her Motion to set Aside Default Judgment requesting the court set aside the default judgment and allow the matter to proceed to trial because (1) good cause existed to set aside the entry of default and/or default judgment; (2) any default was due to mistake and/or excusable neglect; (3) the motion to set aside default was made in a reasonable time after the discovery of the default; (4) Appellant was improperly and/or insufficiently served; (5) Appellant was improperly placed into default without proper notice or service; and (6) valid defenses exist to Respondent's claims. (Motion to Set Aside Judgment, pp. 1-2).

In her Memorandum in Support, Appellant argued that good cause existed to set aside the default judgment because Respondent's counsel had been engaged in settlement negotiations with Omni Insurance Company ("Omni"), insurance carrier for Appellants, over the course of several months. (Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Set Aside, filed January 11, 2016). However, Respondent did not serve Omni with the Complaint or provide any notice to Omni of the filed lawsuit. Appellant alleged that Respondent's failure to provide notice to Omni of the subsequently filed lawsuit or damages hearing constituted mistake and/or excusable neglect. (Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Set Aside, filed January 11, 2016). Appellant also asserted that valid defenses existed as to Respondent's claims because the evidence presented to the trial court did not support the amount of damages awarded. (Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Set Aside, filed January 11, 2016). Additionally, the motion to set aside was filed just days after Omni learned about the default. (Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Set Aside, filed January 11, 2016). A hearing on the motion to set aside default judgment was held on January 11, 2016.

The Special Referee denied Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment on the same day as the hearing—January 11, 2016. Appellant timely appealed to this Court.

FACTS

This case arises out of an automobile accident in Dillon County, South Carolina on May 17, 2013. (Summons and Complaint). Although Omni contested liability, at some point after the accident, Respondent's counsel engaged in settlement negotiations with Omni—Appellant's insurance carrier. The record is undisputed that Omni tried on numerous occasions to contact Respondent's counsel to discuss resolution, settlement, and a possible lawsuit. Specifically, as set out in the prior sworn affidavit of Kim Cofresi, Omni contacted Respondent's counsel on eight (8) different occasions between January 2015 and September 2015. (Aff. of Kim Cofresi, dated October 14, 2015). **This included six (6) calls after the Complaint was filed seeking information about the claim and discussing settlement options.** Id. Five (5) of the eight (8) calls either occurred with Respondent's attorney, Respondent's attorney's assistant. On three (3) calls, a voicemail was left for Respondent's attorney (and never returned). Id.

On February 24, 2015, Omni was informed by Respondent's counsel that a copy of the Summons and Complaint would be provided "when the suit was filed" (which was not done). Id. On June 10, 2015, Omni spoke with Respondent's attorney who stated he would fax a copy of the Summons and Complaint (which was not done despite providing the fax number). Id. On June 10, 24 and July 29 Omni requested a copy of the Summons and Complaint from Respondent's attorney (which was never provided). Id. On August 10, Omni spoke with Christina in Respondent's attorney's office and requested a copy of the Summons and Complaint. Christina said she needed to speak with Respondent's

attorney and “would call us back” (she never did). Id. On September 22, Omni left another voicemail requesting a copy of the Summons and Complaint (it was never returned). Id. Then on October 5, 2015, Omni received a copy of the Summons, Complain, Order for Entry of Default, and Default Judgment. Id.

Interestingly, the Default Judgment hearing was held on September 22, 2015—**the same day after Omni had called Respondent’s attorney to check on the status of the Summons and Complaint.** Id. The Order states that “Appellant did not appear for the hearing” despite Respondent’s counsel receiving numerous phone calls, including one the day before the hearing, to try and ascertain the status of the claim and obtain a copy of any potential suit documents. Also of interest, the Affidavit of Default was signed on August 20, 2015 by George D. Jebaily who represented Appellant had not made an appearance. While that is technically factually accurate, **Omni had contacted Mr. Jebaily on that very same day** (August 20), as well as many times prior, and spoke to Christina who was to speak to Mr. Jebaily. Id. Mr. Jebaily, or his office, therefore knew on August 20 that Omni was attempting to appear and defend this matter and chose instead to file an Affidavit of Default indicating no appearance had been made without any notice to Omni.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The proper procedure for challenging a default judgment is to move the trial court to set aside the judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b), SCRPC. An appeal may then be taken from the denial of this motion.” Winesett v. Winesett, 287 S.C. 332, 334, 338 S.E.2d 340, 341 (1985). Pursuant to Rule 60(b), SCRPC, a court may relieve a party from a final judgment upon a finding of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect, or fraud misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party. When determining whether to set aside a default judgment, courts look at the following factors: (1) the promptness with which relief is sought; (2) the reasons for the failure to act promptly; (3) the existence of a meritorious defense; and (4) the prejudice to the other parties. Microtronics, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 345 S.C. 506, 510-11, 548 S.E.2d 223, 226 (Ct. App. 2001).

A motion for relief under Rule 60 must be brought within a reasonable time, or, if seeking relief based on fraud or misrepresentation, within one year after the judgment. Rule 60(b)(5), SCRPC. Additionally, the defendant must present a meritorious defense. Mitchell Supply Co. v. Gaffney, 297 S.C. 160, 163, 375 S.E.2d 321, 323 (Ct. App. 1988). A meritorious defense does not need to guarantee a victory at trial. Graham v. Loris, 272 S.C. 442, 453, 248 S.E.2d 594, 599 (1978). Instead, it must simply raise a question of law that is worthy of a judicial inquiry or raise a controversy regarding essential facts arising from conflicting or doubtful evidence. Id., at 453, 248 S.E.2d at 599.

The standard for appellate review is abuse of discretion. Raby Const., L.L.P. v. Orr, 358 S.C. 10, 18, 594 S.E.2d 478, 482 (2004). “An abuse of discretion arises where the trial judge was controlled by an error of law or where his order is based on factual

conclusions that are without evidentiary support.” Tri-County Ice & Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co., 303 S.C. 237, 242, 399 S.E.2d 779, 782 (1990).

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court erred by denying Defendant’s Rule 60(b) motion.

a. The failure of Respondent’s counsel to notify Omni of the filed lawsuit or damages hearing constituted surprise, excusable neglect, mistake, or inadvertence.

The failure of Respondent’s counsel to inform Omni of the filing of the lawsuit and subsequent damages hearing constituted surprise, excusable neglect, mistake, or inadvertence. Accordingly, Appellant’s Rule 60(b) motion should have been granted, default judgment set aside, and the case should have proceeded to trial. At a minimum, a new damages hearing was warranted. It is undisputed that Respondent’s counsel had engaged in settlement discussions with Omni over the course of several months following the accident. Even after the Complaint had been filed, Omni, unaware of the lawsuit, continued to reach out to Respondent’s counsel and inquire about the status of settlement negotiations. (Aff. of Kim Cofresi, dated October 14, 2015).

Courts in South Carolina have held that the failure to notify an insurance company, like Omni in the case at hand, about the filing of a complaint can result in mistake, surprise, inadvertence or excusable neglect as contemplated by Rule 60, SCRPC. Omni had a reasonable expectation notice of suit would be given based on the communications from Respondent’s counsel. Edwards v. Ferguson, 254 S.C. 278, 175 S.E.2d 224, *requires* a set aside in this case¹. In Edwards, the defendant failed to report

¹ Edwards also permits Omni to raise issues that affect Omni as Omni “stands in the shoes of the Appellant so far as liability is concerned...”

the crash to State Farm, his insurance carrier. Instead, State Farm learned of the incident only after the plaintiff's attorney contacted the insurance company seeking to engage in settlement discussions. The subsequent settlement negotiations were unsuccessful and as a result, the plaintiff filed a complaint for damages. The defendant, who had been served, never provided notice to State Farm of the pending lawsuit and never filed an answer. The plaintiff's counsel "...orally informed...State Farm on the phone...that summons, notice, and complaint had been served² on the Appellant..." The trial judge in Edwards even found as a matter of fact that State Farm was informed of the service by Respondent's counsel. Judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiff, and the defendant moved under Section 10-1213 of the 1962 code of Laws of South Carolina to set aside judgment based on mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.³ The lower court refused to set aside the judgment.

Despite the clear notice to State Farm, **the South Carolina Supreme Court set aside the default judgment because State Farm was not given a copy of the law suit.** In doing so, the Supreme Court of South Carolina determined that the trial court had abused its discretion in failing to set aside the judgment because the defendant satisfied the two required prongs: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect and (2) presentation of a meritorious defense. The Court also stated "State Farm stands in the

² In the present case, Respondent's counsel only told Omni he was going to *file* a complaint and that he had *filed* a complaint but never told Omni a complaint was *served*. Nevertheless, it is clear that informing of *service* is even more significant than simply threatening a suit. Therefore, *Edwards* actually goes further than the facts of the present case.

³ Section 10-1213 of the 1962 Code of Laws of South Carolina was later codified as Section 15-27-130 of the 1976 Code). Center v. Center, 269 S.C. 367, 370, 237 S.E.2d 491, 493 (1977). "Rule 60(b) is substantially the same as Code § 15-27-130." Rule 60, SCRPC, notes.

shoes of the Appellant so far as liability is concerned in spite of the fact that the company...was completely unaware...and in spite of the fact that the Appellant has obviously failed to cooperate, to the prejudice of the company.” In sum, Edwards, a Supreme Court case, stands for the proposition that an insurance company acts with excusable neglect, mistake, and/or inadvertence when a Respondent fails to provide a copy of the lawsuit to the insurance company *after telling the insurance company about the lawsuit*. In the present case, that is exactly what occurred—Respondent’s counsel informed Omni of the pending lawsuit and failed to provide a copy to Omni⁴. Therefore, Edwards clearly requires the default be set aside.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals addressed similar facts in McClurg v. Deaton. 380 S.C. 563, 671 S.E.2d 87 (Ct. App. 2008). In McClurg, the defendant, an employee for New Prime, was involved in an automobile accident. Zurich North America (“Zurich”), insurer for New Prime, was notified of the accident and upon receipt of a letter of representation from the plaintiff’s counsel, engaged in settlement discussions over the course of several months. The plaintiff’s counsel informed Zurich several times of his intent to file suit if the case could not be resolved. Although Zurich asked him to hold off on filing the suit while negotiations continued, the plaintiff’s counsel proceeded to file a complaint against the individual defendant, not New Prime, without informing Zurich. Meanwhile, plaintiff’s counsel and Zurich continued to exchange messages regarding settlement, even after the complaint was filed, but plaintiff’s counsel never mentioned the filing of the complaint or provided a courtesy

⁴ Respondent’s counsel also was contacted by Omni the day before the default damages hearing and was not informed of a pending hearing against its insured.

copy to Zurich. The individual defendant failed to answer the complaint, and default judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiff. Zurich learned of the complaint only after it received a copy of the default judgment against the individual defendant in the mail. A Rule 60(b) motion was filed but denied by the trial court.

On appeal, this Court, relying heavily on Edwards for the proposition that the failure to put an insurance company on notice of a subsequent lawsuit after actively engaging in settlement negotiations could warrant the setting aside of default judgment, found that the failure of the plaintiff's counsel to inform Zurich of the pending lawsuit satisfied the surprise or excusable neglect requirement under Rule 60(b)(1). "An insurer may, under the proper circumstances, be entitled to an order setting aside a default judgment where the insurer is involved in ongoing negotiations with a claimant but is not informed that the defendant has been served with a summons and complaint." McClurg, 380 S.C. at 571, 671 S.E.2d at 92 (citing Edwards, 254 S.C. 278, 175 S.E.2d 224). Accordingly, because Zurich, after entering into settlement negotiations with the plaintiff, had not been given notice of the filed complaint, this Court found surprise or excusable neglect⁵. McLurg sets out in clear language that failing to provide a copy of the lawsuit

⁵The Court of Appeals also called into question actions of Respondent's counsel for misrepresentation and/or misconduct under Rule 60(b)(3) because of the history of communication and negotiation between the parties and the Respondent's counsel's concealment of the action from Zurich despite communications after the action was filed. The undersigned does not make such allegations in the present case but would point out to the court that discussions were had between the parties *after* the date of filing and Respondent's attorney never informed Omni the suit had been filed.

following negotiations and notice of potential filing constitutes excusable neglect and/or surprise⁶. Therefore, the reason for failure to act promptly is not at issue.

Applying the holdings from Edwards and McClurg to the analogous facts of this case necessitates a finding of mistake, surprise, inadvertence or excusable neglect on the part of Appellant and Omni. Here, Omni, just like the insurance companies in the above-discussed cases, entered into settlement negotiations with Respondent's counsel over the course of several months. Demands and offers were exchanged several times. Further Omni contacted Respondent's counsel on at least eight (8) additional occasions and either spoke to someone in his office or left messages—including on the day of the damages hearing. Omni never received a response to any of its repeated calls. In light of Omni's numerous attempts to contact Respondent's counsel, it is clear that Omni still considered settlement to be a viable option.

On June 1, 2015, unbeknownst to Omni, Respondent's counsel filed the Complaint against Appellant. Despite engaging in months of settlement negotiations with Omni, Respondent's counsel failed to serve Omni with the Complaint or even inform Omni that the Complaint had been filed. Respondent's counsel had ample opportunity to do so as Omni contacted counsel's office on multiple occasions after the Complaint was filed. Moreover, Omni attempted to contact Respondent's counsel at least two times in the months immediately preceding the filing date. The failure of Respondent's counsel to respond to Omni's inquiries does not discharge the burden to notify Omni.

⁶ As noted above and, Respondent's counsel informed Omni that a suit may be filed and that suit had been filed. Therefore, the discussion in McLurg of discussing or notifying of a pending lawsuit but failing to provide a copy to the insurance company is satisfied in the present case.

Respondent's counsel asserts that he informed Omni via that a lawsuit was going to be filed. Informing Omni that a lawsuit *would be filed* is not the same as notifying Omni that the Complaint *had been filed* or providing copies of the Complaint to the insurance company. Respondent's assertion of notice, even if taken as true, does not absolve Respondent from the responsibility to notify Omni that formal legal proceedings had been filed against its insured. In Edwards, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the judgment should be vacated even though counsel informed State Farm that the summons, notice, and complaint *had been served* on the defendant the previous day. The failure to provide a copy of the lawsuit to the insurance company supported the setting aside of default judgment; merely communicating that a lawsuit was filed was not sufficient. Nor did the inaction of the individual defendant justify the failure to provide notice by counsel to the insurance company. Edwards, 254 S.C. at 282, 175 S.E.2d at 226.

Applying the holdings from Edwards and McClurg, Respondent's counsel cannot actively engage in settlement negotiations and then seek to quietly recover through default in a lawsuit without providing notice to the insurance company. Ongoing negotiations with counsel give the insurance company, such as Omni in this case, reasonable belief that it would be notified of any subsequently filed lawsuit. Moreover, any effort by Respondent's counsel to ignore attempts by Omni at communication after the filing of the lawsuit is exactly the type of behavior that the McClurg court considered to constitute potential fraud or misrepresentation in Rule 60(b)(3).

b. Appellant presented a meritorious defense to the trial court.

Appellant presented a meritorious defense to the trial court and thus was entitled

to relief under Rule 60(b).⁷ A meritorious defense does not need to be an absolute defense. Microtronics, 345 S.C. at 511, 548 S.E.2d at 226. Instead, it simply must be worthy of a hearing because it raises “a real controversy as to essential facts arising from conflicting or doubtful evidence.” Graham, 272 S.C. at 453, 248 S.E.2d at 599. “[T]he key inquiry is merely whether the materials submitted to the trial court reflect, in any way, that a contest on the merits might render different results than the results reached by the default judgment.” McClurg, 395 S.C. 85, 94, 716 S.E.2d 887, 892 (2011) (Toal, J., dissenting).

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