THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM DILLON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

JUL 14 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Richard L. Hinson, Special Referee

Case No. 2015-CP-17-313
Appellate Case No. 2016-000246

Thomas J. Grossetti, Jr.Respondent

v.

Nicolette S. BlueAppellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

George D. Jebaily
Suzanne H. Jebaily
Jebaily Law Firm, P.A.
Post Office Box 1871
Florence, SC 29503
Phone: (843) 667-0400
Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Special Referee properly denied Appellant’s Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect, because Appellant had actual notice that a lawsuit had been filed and the Appellant was properly served with Notice of Hearing on damages.**

A party seeking to be relieved from a default judgment must do so under Rule 60(b), SCRCF. The standard for granting relief from a default judgment under this Rule is

more rigorous than the “good cause” standard under Rule 55(c). *Sundown Operating Co., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 608, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888-89 (2009). (Citations omitted.) “Rule 60(b) requires a more particularized showing of mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, surprise, newly discovered evidence, fraud, misrepresentation, or ‘other misconduct of an adverse party.’” *Id.* “The different standards under the two rules underscore the clear intent to make it more difficult for a party to avoid default once the court has entered a judgment, which carries greater finality, and often occurs later than a clerk’s entry of default.” *Id.*

The parties in this case agree there has been no misconduct or misrepresentation on the part of Respondent’s counsel:

Mr. Bayne: There is clearly no malfeasance, misconduct or anything like that, or misleading. . . . I’m not trying to imply that.

...

Mr. Jebaily: We did file suit. We did let them know we filed suit. We did not send a copy of the summons and complaint. Those are, I think, facts that are not in dispute. And at no time was there any misrepresentations made to Omni, anything other than what the facts actually are. Are we in agreement?

Mr. Bayne: Correct, there was no misrepresentation made by your office that it had – it had not been served yet or anything like that. Nothing like that was done. I agree 100 percent.

(R. p. 76, lines 17-25; R. p. 77, lines 11-22)

Appellant asserts grounds for relief solely under Rule 60(b)(1), SCRCP. “In determining whether to set aside a default judgment under Rule 60(b)(1) the trial judge should consider the following relevant factors: (1) The promptness with which relief is sought, (2) the reasons for the failure to act promptly, (3) the existence of a meritorious defense, and (4) the prejudice to other parties.” *McClurg v. Deaton (McClurg I)*, 380 S.C. 563, 573, 671 S.E.2d 87, 93 (Ct. App. 2008) *affirmed McClurg v. Deaton (McClurg II)*,

395 S.C. 85, 716 S.E.2d 887 (2011) (Citations omitted).

Appellant maintains the failure of Respondent to inform Omni that the lawsuit had been filed constitutes “surprise, excusable neglect, mistake, or inadvertence.” (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 6.). However, the record contains evidence that Omni was informed and had actual notice of the filed suit. Appellant submitted the affidavit of an Omni adjuster attesting to the fact that on June, 10, 2015, “I spoke with Mr. Jebaily and he informed me that suit had been filed.” (R. p. 17, paragraph 10, lines 6-9)

At the hearing on Appellant’s Motion to Set Aside the Default (Motion to Set Aside) counsel also acknowledged that Omni was informed and had actual notice suit had been filed:

“The Court: But one thing that does concern me is that paragraph 10 where the adjuster says, ‘I spoke with Mr. Jebaily and he informed me suit had been filed.’ And that was before there had been a default, correct?”

Mr. Bayne: Correct, that was nine days after it had been filed.” (R. p. 68, lines 1-6)

Notwithstanding evidence showing Respondent did inform Omni that a law suit had been filed, the alleged failure to inform Omni does not constitute grounds for relief. In fact, the record shows that Appellant’s “main gripe” was the failure of Respondent to send Omni the “suit papers.” (R. p. 68, lines 12-14)

Appellant relies heavily on *Edwards v. Ferguson*, 254 S.C. 278, 175 S.E.2d 224 (1970) to support her claim that Respondent was obligated to send Omni a copy of the Summons and Complaint and failure to do so was grounds for relief under Rule 60(b)(1). In *Edwards*, the court held the insurer should have been provided a copy or served with the complaint because the insurer “stands in the shoes of the defendant so far as liability is concerned.” The court, deciding in favor of the insurer, reversed the denial of the

insurer's motion to set aside the default judgment. *Edwards*, 254 S.C. at 282, 175 S.E.2d at 224.

As the Special Referee pointed out in his Order, *Edwards* is distinguishable and should not be controlling authority in this matter. *Edwards* was decided in 1970, prior to the adoption of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. *Narruhn v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 404 S.C. 337, 745 S.E.2d 90 (2013). Rule 4, SCRCPP, now governs the service of process in South Carolina and "assures the defendant of reasonable notice of the action." *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence*, 318 S.C. 207, 209, 456 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1995). Rule 5(a), SCRCPP, provides that "notice of any trial or hearing on unliquidated damages shall also be given to parties in default." *Id.* at 212, 456 S.E.2d at 901.

The record here shows that Respondent complied with the applicable law under Rule 4, SCRCPP, in serving Appellant with the Summons and Complaint. In addition, Respondent provided Omni with actual notice on June 10, 2015, well within sufficient time for Appellant to appear and answer. (R. p. 17, paragraph 10, lines 6-9; R. p. 68, lines 1-6; R. p. 69, lines 6-10) Respondent complied with applicable law under Rule 5(a), SCRCPP, and served Appellant with notice of the hearing on unliquidated damages on September 2, 2015 by certified mail, restricted delivery. Appellant signed for receipt of the notice on September 4, 2015. (R. p. 109; R. pp 110-111)

Edwards also preceded a legislative policy shift with the enactment of the Motor Vehicle Financial Responsibility Act of 1974, requiring mandatory minimal coverage and limits for all vehicles registered and licensed in South Carolina. Since then "our Supreme Court has over the years adopted a policy of construing the Financial Responsibility Act strictly against insurers and liberally in favor of the injured in order to accomplish the

purposes underlying the statute.” *Shores v. Weaver*, 315 S.C. 347, 354, 433 S.E.2d 913 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding an insured’s failure to notify the insurer about an accident, as required by the automobile insurance policy, could not defeat an innocent victim’s recovery) *superceded by statute*, but see *Cowan v. Allstate Ins. Co.* 357 S.C. 625, 629, 594 S.E.2d. 275, 277 (2004) .

In 1997 the legislature amended the South Carolina Code to include sub-section 38-77-142(B) which specifically addresses an insurer’s obligation to its insured when the insurer has actual notice of a lawsuit:

If an insurer has actual notice of a motion for judgment or complaint having been served on an insured, the mere failure of the insured to turn the motion or complaint over to the insurer may not be a defense to the insurer, nor void the endorsement or provision, nor in any way relieve the insurer of its obligations to the insured, provided the insured otherwise cooperates and in no way prejudices the insurer.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-142(B) 1976, as amended.

Our Supreme Court instructs us that “despite an insured’s failure to comply with a cooperation clause requiring him to forward pleadings, **the insurer must honor all its obligations under the policy if it has actual notice of those pleadings.**” (Emphasis added). “By providing that actual notice is sufficient, the statute effects a common sense resolution where, for example, an insured notifies its insurer by phone, but neglects to forward the pleadings.” *Cowan*, 357 S.C. at 629, 594 S.E.2d. at 277. The sentence also provides that if the insured fails to cooperate in other ways to the prejudice of the insurance company, those acts may relieve the company of its obligation to the insured.” *Id.*

Whereas *Edwards* required *service* of pleadings upon the insurer, section 38-77-142(B) provides that *actual notice* to the insurer is sufficient under most circumstances. Here, insurer Omni had actual notice the suit was filed, and Appellant has offered no

evidence to demonstrate the insured's failure to cooperate. Indeed, the record is devoid of evidence regarding the insured's conduct, with the exception of Respondent's certified mail return receipts bearing her signature.

The second paragraph of section 38-77-142(B) suggests due diligence on the part of the insurer is required to obtain the insured's cooperation:

Where the insurer has elected to provide a defense to its insured under such circumstances and files responsive pleadings in the name of its insured, the insured is not subject to sanctions for failure to comply with discovery pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure unless it can be shown that the suit papers actually reached the insured, and the insurer has failed after exercising due diligence to locate the insured, and as long as the insurer provides such information in response to discovery as it can without the assistance of the insured.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-142(B) 1976, as amended.

The insured apparently failed to forward the filed and served pleadings to Omni. Yet Appellant presented no evidence of Omni's attempts to locate or contact its insured to obtain the pleadings. (R. p. 64, lines 5-9) The affidavit submitted on behalf of Omni identifies no documented effort to communicate with its insured. (R. pp. 16-19) Appellant offered no explanation why Omni failed to use known resources to obtain the filed pleadings in order to answer in a timely manner:

The Court: Does she [adjuster] give any reason why she did not hire counsel once she knew that suit had been filed; or why she did not, knowing that the accident and parties lived in Dillon County, did not look it up to see what had been filed and take action? Does she give any indication in her affidavit as to why she didn't do that?

Mr. Bayne: No.

The Court: Do you have any explanation for that?

Mr. Bayne: I do not. I've been given no information as to why they did not either go to Dillon County online to look it up, or hire counsel immediately on June 10 when they were told it was filed. . . . I do agree

with you that once it's been filed, they were informed of that, it should have certainly probably raised a red flag.

(R. p. 68, line 21- p. 69, line15)

“[A] party has a duty to monitor the progress of his case. Lack of familiarity with legal proceedings is unacceptable and the court will not hold a layman to any lesser standard than is applied to an attorney.” *Hill v. Dotts*, 345 S.C. 304, 310, 547 S.E.2d 894 (Ct. App. 2001) quoting *Goodson v. Am. Bankers Ins. Co.*, 295 S.C. 400, 403, 368 S.E.2d 687, 689 (Ct. App. 1988).

Appellant concedes that Omni did nothing to obtain the filed pleadings on its own, but solely relied on Respondent to provide them with a copy. This reliance has no legal basis if the insurer has actual notice that suit has been filed and is unreasonable in 2015, when multiple resources are available from which pleadings can be obtained. Omni is in the business of providing automobile insurance to consumers like the insured and can not claim ignorance of or inexperience with the legal system as an excuse for its own inaction. It strains credulity that Omni would reasonably expect Respondent to assist Omni in defending this claim. While Appellant alleges efforts to “appear and defend” this case, phone calls from an adjuster to discuss settlement or request documents do not constitute an answer to a complaint or an appearance. (*See Hill*, 345 S.C. 304, 547 S.E.2d 894). Omni had access to defense counsel and could have easily protected its interest by hiring defense counsel to defend this case. They made a choice not to hire a lawyer to protect their interest and cannot now complain because they don't like the choice they made.

Because “the appellant was duly served with the summons and complaint, [i]t was his duty to answer the complaint. . . . [Therefore,][h]e must suffer the consequences of his

failure to answer.” *Hill*, 345 S.C. at 310, 547 S.E.2d at 897, quoting *Williams v. Ray*, 232 S.C. 373, 383-84, 102 S.E.2d 368, 373 (1958). Having received actual notice of the filed pleadings and in providing no evidence of due diligence in obtaining the pleadings from known resources or in securing the cooperation of its insured, Omni should be required to honor all its obligations under the policy issued to its insured, and the denial of Appellant’s 60(b) Motion should be affirmed. *See* S. C. Code Ann. § 38-77-142(B).

II. The Special Referee properly denied Appellant’s Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment because Appellant failed to provide any evidence of a meritorious defense.

The most compelling distinction between *Edwards* and this case is the existence of a meritorious defense in *Edwards* and the absence of a meritorious defense in this matter. *Edwards* was not decided solely on the basis of the insured’s failure to notify the insurer, but was also grounded on the existence of a meritorious defense. *McClurg v. Deaton (McClurg I)*, 380 S.C. 563, 575, 671 S.E.2d 87, 93 (Ct. App. 2008) citing *Edwards* at 283, 175 S.E.2d at 226 (“ . . .in order to vacate a judgment, there must be a showing (1) that the judgment was taken against the defendant through his mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect, and (2) that there is a showing of a prima facie meritorious defense”).

Of the four relevant factors a trial judge should consider when determining whether to set aside a default judgment, “[i]t is clear that a meritorious defense is more than merely a factor to consider under certain 60(b) grounds. . . .” *McClurg I*, 380 S.C. at 574, 671 S.E.2d at 93. “In particular, our courts have held that in order to obtain relief from a default judgment under Rule 60(b)(1) or 60(b)(3), not only must the movant make a proper showing he is entitled to relief based upon one of the specified grounds, he must

also make a prima facie showing of a meritorious defense.” *Id.* citing *Stearns Bank Nat’l Ass’n v. Glenwood Falls, LP*, 373 S.C. 331, 341, 644 S.E.2d 793, 798 (Ct. App 2007) (noting relief from a default judgment under Rule 60(b)(1) is available “upon a showing of excusable neglect and a meritorious defense. . . .”); *Mitchell Supply Co v. Gaffney*, 297 S.C. 160, 163, 375 S.E.2d 321, 323 (Ct. App. 1988) (noting the existence of a meritorious defense was a requirement under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-27-130, the precursor to Rule 60(b)(1), SCRPC, that Federal cases interpreting Federal Rule 60(b)(1) require a meritorious defense, and that the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure have not changed this requirement).

Appellant’s failure to provide any evidence of a meritorious defense is fatal to its request for relief under Rule 60(b)(1). Despite assertions in **Facts** to the contrary, the record contains no evidence that Omni, or counsel on its behalf, contested liability in this matter. The only evidence in the record, the affidavit of the Omni adjuster, indicates the parties were attempting to negotiate a settlement. (R. pp. 16-19) Further, in the hearing on Appellant’s Motion to Set Aside Default, **counsel acknowledged Omni did not contest liability** but would contest the extent and measure of damages and necessity of medical care. (R. p. 70, lines 15-18) When questioned by the Special Referee on how the meritorious defense is presented in Appellant’s motion, counsel replied:

Mr. Bayne: Sure, it’s presented very briefly and not with any specificity, but simply that we plan to challenge both the extent of the physical injury and the necessity of some of the medical bills that were incurred. . . . It’s a challenge to the underlying evidence that was presented that reached the - - that allowed you to reach the conclusion that you reached. (R. p. 71, line 24-p. 72, line 3; R. p. 72 lines 10-13)

...

The Court: Has there been any evidence by affidavit or otherwise by

the insurance company as to why they believe –not just believe, but why they believe they will be able to prove or present to a finder of fact that the damages were not what they were supposed to be and that they have a meritorious defense other than just generally we think it's too much money, or we think some of the bills are unnecessary? Is there any evidence, direct evidence, as to what would be presented at trial on those issues?

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